THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jun 14 2023

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Mikell Scarborough
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2021-001296

Vanessa Williams, Vanessa Williams, as
Conservator and Guardian of Sandra P.
Perkins, and Vanessa Williams, as
Personal Representative of the Estate of
Sandra P. Perkins Respondent,

v.

Bradford Q. Jeffcoat, Jr. and Blue Heron
Builders, Inc. Defendants,
of whom
Bradford Q. Jeffcoat, Jr. is..... Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Jason Scott Luck
P.O. Box 47
Bennettsville, SC 29512
843.479.6863
jason@luck.law
Attorney for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals' published opinion grossly misinterpreted South Carolina law in holding the caretaker of an allegedly incapacitated individual was not entitled to notice of a petition to appoint a guardian and conservator.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals, in violation of the precedent of this Court, ignored evidence of material misrepresentations, self-dealing, and conflicts of interest properly presented to the Master-in-Equity which established a genuine issue of material fact as to claims of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, slander of title, unclean hands, and lack of standing.
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals usurped the authority of the legislature in its published opinion by judicially expanding the incidents of ownership under South Carolina's joint tenancy statute.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This petition presents an instance of “granny snatching.”¹ In the mid-1990s, Petitioner Bradford “Brad” Jeffcoat and Sandra Perkins, both in their golden years, began a roughly two-decade committed relationship. (App 51, 69, 147, 155, 305). “For reasons that are not uncommon or unusual in older relationships, they chose not to marry.” (App 265). During the course of their relationship, on April 28, 2000, Jeffcoat purchased 1955 Old Fort Avenue, Charleston, as the couple’s home. (App 71-72, 155-156, 159, 187). Jeffcoat and Perkins intended that 1955 Old Fort would transfer outside probate to the survivor of their relationship, so on July 1, 2000, Jeffcoat

¹ As observed by the Southern District of Illinois:

Of particular concern is a tactic known as “granny snatching.” The AARP has described granny snatching as “a deplorable tactic by which someone who wants control over a vulnerable individual and their assets – usually when there’s a sizeable estate involved – ‘snatches’ that individual across state lines and immediately files for guardianship, preventing control or contact with the individual by other family members.”

Elder law practitioners uniformly decry the practice, arguing that it isolates and exploits vulnerable seniors; results in expensive, protracted litigation that may deplete an estate; aggravates family disputes; delays needed care; and facilitates elder abuse.

In an effort to address this and other problematic practices in the field of adult guardianship, the Uniform Adult Guardianship and Protective [P]roceedings Jurisdiction Act (“the Act”) was established. The Act provides clear guidelines for determining which state has jurisdiction when guardianship disputes cross state boundaries. Typically, the senior’s “home” state (where the senior has been physically present over the last six months) will have original jurisdiction.

Easterley v. Burgett, No. 3:16-cv-00288-DRH-SCW, 2016 WL 6248312 at *4 (S.D.Ill. October 26, 2016) (footnotes removed). Both Alabama and South Carolina have adopted the Uniform Adult Guardianship and Protective proceedings Jurisdiction Act, and both states’ implementations of this uniform act are relevant to this appeal.

deeded the property to himself and Perkins “jointly with right of survivorship, and not as tenants in common”. (App 69, 151, 155-156, 159, 230-231, 292). In order to contribute toward their shared home, Perkins also executed a note and mortgage in favor of Jeffcoat, which has since been satisfied. (App 69, 155-156, 195, 207). Jeffcoat and Perkins thenceforth lived together at 1955 Old Fort as a committed couple. (App 70).

Circa 2009, Perkins began developing symptoms of dementia consistent with Alzheimer’s disease. (App 69, 145, 147, 156.). Perkins eventually quit her job due to her worsening memory loss. (App 69, 156). Jeffcoat served as Perkins’ sole caregiver at this time, until her condition deteriorated to the point where she required additional assistance, and he hired an in-home aide. (App 156, 158). In April of 2015, Jeffcoat asked Respondent Vanessa Williams, Perkins’ only child, to come to Charleston to help him care for Perkins. (App 143, 156-158). Prior to this time, Williams only saw her mother once or twice each year, usually when Jeffcoat and Perkins would travel to visit her in Mississippi. (App 71, 158).

One of Williams’ earliest activities when she arrived in South Carolina in April of 2015 was to add herself to Perkins’ checking account. (App 143). Shortly after gaining signatory authority over Perkins’ checking account, Williams wrote a draft of Perkins’ funds to pay the closing costs for a mobile home in Alabama. (App 143). According to Williams, Perkins at that time was diagnosed with frontotemporal dementia, and Perkins had been exhibiting symptoms of dementia since 2009 or 2010. (App 143, 145-147). For example, Williams testified Perkins believed Jeffcoat was

“cheating on her” as early as 2009 or 2010 (App 146-147), which is behavior consistent with dementia. *See In re Conservatorship of Groves*, 109 S.W.3d 317, 338-39 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2003) (setting forth the progression of Alzheimer’s Disease, which includes “suspicion and accusation” as the patient’s condition deteriorates).

During her brief tenure in South Carolina, Williams would help take Perkins to her doctors’ appointments. (App 69, 156). However, on June 16, 2015, Williams did not take Perkins to her doctor’s appointment: instead, she, without warning, packed some of Perkins’ belongings and spirited her away to Alabama, leaving Perkins’ automobile and “...certain other items of personal property, including...furniture and apparel...” (App 11, 15, 65, 69, 156). After absconding with Perkins, Williams locked Jeffcoat out of his lover’s life, and Williams did not respond to Jeffcoat’s subsequent attempts to contact her or Perkins. (App 70, 142, 157). Williams also shut Perkins’ two siblings out of her life. (App 141-142). Williams, as Perkins’ only child, now had exclusive access to Perkins.

On June 25, 2015, almost immediately after arriving in Alabama, Williams filed a petition for emergency guardianship and conservatorship powers over Perkins in the Baldwin County, Alabama Probate Court. (App 70, 157).² Williams’ petition omits the fact that Perkins had resided with Jeffcoat at 1955 Old Fort since 2000 and

² This petition and other Baldwin County Probate Court filings (App 305-318) were added to the record by consent. *See* Rule 212(b), SCACR. Other documents filed with the Baldwin County Probate Court can be found on its website: <https://probatecourt.baldwincountyal.gov/DuProcessCourtInquiry/Home/Search>. This Court may take judicial notice of these filings. *See Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 321 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1984) (appellate judicial notice); Rule 201(f), SCRE (“Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.”).

that Jeffcoat was Perkin's caretaker. (App 305-308). Williams also did not notify Jeffcoat of the filing of this petition. (App 70, 157). On July 7, 2015, the Baldwin County Probate Court issued Temporary Letters of Guardianship, appointing Williams as guardian. (App 309). These Temporary Letters of Guardianship explicitly stated "said guardian does not have authority to expend any funds of said ward." (App 309). On July 17, 2015, Williams petitioned the Probate Court for a general guardianship/conservatorship, "to protect and manage the person, assets and financial affairs of [Perkins]." (App 310). Williams did not notify Jeffcoat of this petition. (App 286). This petition again omitted any information about Perkins' approximately fifteen years of residence with Jeffcoat in South Carolina. (App 70, 156, 310-311). On September 15, 2015, the Baldwin County Probate Court issued general Letters of Guardianship/Conservatorship appointing Williams as guardian and conservator. (App 116).

From April of 2015 until Perkins' death seven months later, Williams used funds from Perkins' checking and retirement accounts to pay for her family's groceries, her daughter's college tuition, and any other "expenses [of] around [\$2,200] or [\$]2,300 a month for a family of four." (App 144-145). Perkins' income at this time (from her retirement) was only \$2,200.00 a month. (App 144). When Williams took control of Perkins' checking account in April of 2015, it contained approximately \$41,000.00; Williams was unable to testify as to the value of Perkins' checking account when Perkins died seven months later. (App 144). Perkins also appears to have also been the beneficiary of a trust, but the record contains few details of this

instrument or how its proceeds, if any, were utilized. (App 146, 231, 233).

On October 7, 2015, Williams, through her attorney, requested Jeffcoat purchase Perkins' interest in 1955 Old Fort, ostensibly because Perkins needed financial assistance. (App 65-66, 70-71, 157). Williams, through her attorney, also requested at that time the return of Perkins' car, furniture, and personal property, despite having made no attempt to retrieve them since disappearing in June of 2015. (App 65-66, 71-72). Jeffcoat returned Perkins' car, but declined to purchase her interest in 1955 Old Fort. (App 157-158).

According to Williams, Perkins' health began to decline precipitously in early November of 2015. (App 83, 175). Williams knew at this time Perkins' 50% interest in 1955 Old Fort would vest in Jeffcoat upon Perkins' death. (App 83, 175). In order to prevent title from vesting as mandated in the deed, on November 16, 2015, Vanessa Williams, acting as purported guardian/conservator of Perkins, deeded Perkins' interest in the property to Vanessa Williams, individually, for \$10.00 "and love and affection".³ (App 61). At roughly the same time, Williams authorized her South Carolina attorneys to proceed with a partition action against Jeffcoat, which was ultimately filed November 24, 2015. (App 8, 15).

Perkins died on November 26, 2015.⁴ (App 142). Williams had Perkins

³ Shortly before Perkins died, Williams made a motion before the Baldwin County Probate Court for retroactive approval of this transaction. (App 285-286, 313-315, 318). Jeffcoat was not notified of Williams' motion, though the order approving the transaction was eventually presented to the Master-in-Equity on or about March 30, 2016. (App 50).

⁴ Jeffcoat's trial counsel alleged at a March 29, 2017, hearing the Alzheimer's-stricken Perkins died on a couch in Williams' trailer. (App 143, 265).

cremated and held a memorial service within roughly a week. (App 142). Williams did not notify Jeffcoat or Perkins' siblings of Perkins' memorial service. (App 70-72, 141-142, 157). Brad Jeffcoat subsequently learned of the death of Sandra Perkins, his lover and companion of roughly 20 years, from a mutual friend. (App 70, 157).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the Master-in-Equity's summary judgment directing the partition and sale of 1955 Old Fort and denying relief under Jeffcoat's affirmative defenses and counterclaims. The action was filed on November 24, 2015, by Respondent Vanessa Williams, as the daughter and purported guardian/conservator of Sandra Perkins, against joint tenant and Petitioner Bradford Jeffcoat and Blue Heron Builders, LLC, a mortgagee (Blue Heron was eventually dismissed). (App 7-15). At this time, the Complaint also asserted an action for conversion of "certain other items of personal property, including without limitation, furniture and apparel..." (this issue was eventually resolved). (App 11). Jeffcoat filed his Answer and Counterclaims on December 29, 2015, disputing Alabama's jurisdiction over this matter (§ 4) and asserting, *inter alia*, defenses for unclean hands, lack of standing, and a fraud counterclaim arising out of Williams' taking of Perkins, appointment as guardian/conservator, and conveyance of 1955 Old Fort. (App 17-21). Jeffcoat filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaims on February 3, 2016, adding counterclaims for breach of fiduciary duty and slander of title arising out of Williams' conveyance of 1955 Old Fort. (App 22-28). Jeffcoat also filed a Motion to Dismiss on February 3, 2016, arguing Williams' conveyance of 1955 Old Fort was void because S.C. Code § 27-7-40 did not allow Williams to unilaterally sever the tenancy. (App 29-32). Williams filed a Reply to the original Answer and Counterclaim on February 16, 2016 and to the Amended Answer and Counterclaims on March 18, 2016. (App 35-38, 40-45). Williams also filed a Response to Jeffcoat's Motion to Dismiss on March 30, 2016.

(App 46-49). The Motion to Dismiss was heard by Judge Markley Dennis on April 1, 2016. Judge Dennis denied the Motion to Dismiss by order dated April 6, 2016. (App 1, 253-258).

On August 3, 2016, Jeffcoat filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, again arguing Williams' conveyance of 1955 Old Fort was void, and also that Alabama law did not allow Williams to convey her ward's property to herself without court approval. (App 51-72). This motion was supported by an affidavit executed by Jeffcoat on July 12, 2016. (App 69-72). Jeffcoat withdrew this motion, without prejudice, via a consent order dated January 5, 2017. (App 2).

On January 11, 2017, Williams amended her Complaint to appear as the Personal Representative of Perkins' Estate. (App 74-80, 142). On January 17, 2017, Williams filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, arguing that S.C. Code § 27-7-40 allowed for Williams' unilateral severance of the joint tenancy and that Williams could convey 1955 Old Fort in order to "preserve" it. (App 81-129). On March 27, 2017, Jeffcoat filed a Response to this motion and asserted a cross-motion for Partial Summary Judgment, presenting again his arguments regarding severance of the joint tenancy and Williams' lack of authority to sever it (describing the latter as a "breach of fiduciary duty"). (App 130-159). Jeffcoat also filed another affidavit in support of his position. (App 155-159). On February 28, 2018, Jeffcoat filed a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim, which reiterated his prior defenses and counterclaims. (App 160-166). Williams filed a Reply on March 19, 2018. (App 167-172). Judge Thomas Hughston heard the pending Motions for Partial Summary

Judgment on March 29, 2017, and denied them by order dated May 9, 2017. (App 3, 259-272). Judge Hughston’s order held: “Plaintiff’s Motion...is **denied**, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party [Jeffcoat] and finding a scintilla of evidence exists giving rise to a genuine issue of material fact.” (App 3) (emphasis in original).

On April 2, 2018, Williams filed another Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, arguing grounds for relief substantially similar to Williams’ January 17, 2017 motion. (App 173-222). On April 17, 2018, Jeffcoat filed his own Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing grounds for relief substantially similar (though more developed) to his March 27, 2017, Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (App 223-236). Williams responded to Jeffcoat’s motion on April 26, 2018. (App 237-246). Pursuant to an Order of Reference, Charleston County Master-in-Equity Mikell Scarborough heard these motions on April 30, 2018. (App 273-304). On May 25, 2018 (after the hearing), Williams filed a Supplemental Brief in support of her motion. (App 247-250).

On June 28, 2018, the Master-in-Equity issued his order finding that Williams was allowed under South Carolina law to sever the joint tenancy, and that Williams’ conveyance was lawful. (App 4-6). This order also ordered the judicial sale of 1955 Old Fort, and also held: “[a]ny relief specifically not addressed herein, is denied.” (App 6). Jeffcoat timely filed his Notice of Appeal on August 3, 2018. (App 251).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Master-in-Equity in a published opinion. *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 434 S.C. 461, 863 S.E.2d 822 (Ct. App. 2021). (App 412-423).

Jeffcoat timely filed a petition for rehearing on July 20, 2021. (App 424-431). After requesting a response from Williams, the Court of Appeals denied Jeffcoat's petition by order dated October 7, 2021. (App 441-443). Jeffcoat timely petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari, which this Court granted by order dated May 17, 2023.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of a statute is reviewed *de novo*. *Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007).

*
**

An order granting summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*, applying the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *M & M Grp., Inc. v. Holmes*, 379 S.C. 468, 473, 666 S.E.2d 262, 264 (Ct. App. 2008). “Summary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” *Id.* (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCF). A material issue is one that constitutes a legal defense or that affects the result of the action. *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Ctr.*, 297 S.C. 176, 375 S.E.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1988).

“On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below.” *Id.* (quoting *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004)). Summary judgment should not be granted if further development of the facts would assist in the application of the law. *Mosteller v. Cty. of Lexington*, 336 S.C. 360, 362, 520 S.E.2d 620, 621 (1999). A court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony. *Id.*

“Matters subject to judicial notice are properly considered on a summary judgment motion.” 11 *Moore’s Federal Practice* § 56.95 (2016); *c.f. Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 754 S.E.2d 494 (2014) (Courts may take judicial notice of facts when considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion).

“[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). This Court has defined a “scintilla” as “‘a gleam,’ ‘a glimmer,’ ‘a spark,’ ‘the least particle,’ ‘the smallest trace.’” *Bethea v. Floyd*, 177 S.C. 521, 181 S.E. 721, 724 (1935); *see also Rogers v. Norfolk Southern Corp.*, 356 S.C. 85, 588 S.E.2d 87 (2003) (Burnett, J., dissenting) (“A scintilla is defined as ‘a trace’ of evidence.”) (citing *Black’s Law Dictionary* 1347 (7th ed. 1999)). In cases requiring a heightened burden of proof (*e.g.*, fraud), the non-moving party must submit more than a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Hancock* at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals’ interpretation of S.C. Code § 62-5-309 (Supp. 2015) runs counter to the plain language of, and all commentary on, that statute.

The July 14, 2021, opinion of the Court of Appeals correctly finds Jeffcoat would be due notice of the guardianship/conservatorship action under Alabama law if he was due notice under South Carolina law. (App 417). At the time of Williams’ filings with Baldwin County Probate Court, South Carolina was Perkins’ “home state” under the Alabama Uniform Adult Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Jurisdiction Act. *See* Ala. Code § 26-2B-201(a)(2) (“home state” is where the ward was physically present for six consecutive months before the filing of petition). This statute requires notice of guardianship and conservatorship proceedings be given to “those persons who would be entitled to notice of the petition if a proceeding were brought in the respondent’s home state”. Ala. Code § 26-2B-208.

The Court of Appeals fundamentally misinterpreted the South Carolina Probate Code in its opinion, finding Jeffcoat was not entitled to notice of proceedings if they had been filed in South Carolina. (App 417). The South Carolina statute in effect in 2015 clearly and unambiguously mandated caregivers such as Jeffcoat receive notice of guardianship actions:

(A) In a proceeding that is properly commenced by filing and service of the summons and petition for the appointment or removal of a guardian of an incapacitated person other than the appointment of a temporary guardian or temporary suspension of a guardian, the following persons must be properly served:

(1) the ward or the person alleged to be incapacitated and his spouse, parents, and adult children;

(2) a person who is serving as his guardian, conservator, or attorney in fact under a durable power of attorney pursuant to Section 62-5-501 **or who has his care and custody;**

(3) if no other person is notified under item (1), at least one of his closest adult relatives, if one can be found.

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