THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jul 12 2023

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Mikell Scarborough
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2021-001296

Vanessa Williams, Vanessa Williams, as
Conservator and Guardian of Sandra P. Perkins,
and Vanessa Williams, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Sandra P. Perkins.....Respondent,

v.

Bradford Q. Jeffcoat, Jr. and
Blue Heron Builders, Inc.....Defendants,
of whom
Bradford Q. Jeffcoat, Jr. is.....Petitioner.

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Timothy A. Domin
CLAWSON AND STAUBES, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, SC 29492

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

(c) Except as expressly provided herein, any joint tenancy severed pursuant to the terms of this section is and becomes a tenancy in common without rights of survivorship. Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to create the estate of tenancy by the entireties. Nothing contained in this section amends any statute relating to joint tenancy with rights of survivorship in personal property but affects only real estate. The provisions of this section must be liberally construed to carry out the intentions of the parties. This section supersedes any conflicting provisions of Section 62-2-804.

As argued in Williams' motion for summary judgment, the statute acknowledges common law methods for creating a joint tenancy with right of survivorship, to wit: "[i]n addition to any other methods for the creation of a joint tenancy in real estate which may exist by law." The statute plainly envisions there are other ways to create a joint tenancy in South Carolina. Accordingly, statutory creation of a joint tenancy is not exclusive and common law rules for the creation of a joint tenancy are still recognized. The Court of Appeals affirmed this rule in Estate of Sherman ex rel. Maddock v. Estate of Sherman ex rel. Snodgrass, 359 S.C. 407, 597 S.E.2d 850, 851 (Ct.

App. 2004), opining:

Appellant asserts that, at most, Rosemary's 1985 deed created a tenancy in common. "The common law method of creating a joint tenancy requires a conveyance to have four unities: unity of interest, unity of title, unity of time, and unity of possession." Smith v. Rucker, 357 S.C. 532, 593 S.E.2d 497, 499 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Jenkins v. Jenkins, 8 S.C.L. (1 Mill Const.) 48, 52 (1817)).

Therefore, a joint tenancy with right of survivorship is established where the grant or devise conveys unity of title, unity of interest, and unity of possession to two or more tenants at the same time.

By implication, statutory severance is likewise not the exclusive mechanism for destroying a joint tenancy. The common law rules for severance still apply and the destruction of one of the required unities of title destroys the joint tenancy and renders property holders "tenants in common." In Smith v. Cutler, 366 S.C. 546, 623 S.E.2d 644, 647 (S.C. 2005), then Chief Justice Toal held that in South Carolina, "unlike a tenancy in common with a right of survivorship, a joint tenancy with a right of survivorship is capable of being defeated by the unilateral act of one joint tenant."

The Petitioner attempts reads into the statute that destruction of the joint tenancy is limited to the ways enumerated in S.C. Code § 27-7-40 (a). But the statute does not state that the means set forth are the exclusive ways in which to destroy the joint tenancy. In fact, the statute sets forth various incidents of ownership: "[J]oint tenancy includes and is limited to, the following incidents of ownership:" and then goes on to list eight ways in which an interest of a joint tenant may vest upon the death, conveyance, divorce, or judicial sale. Clearly there are other incidents of ownership of a joint tenancy that are not referenced. Further, the legislative history of this section, suggests that there was no intention of subsuming the common law on the issue of severance.

S.C. Code § 27-7-40(a) was introduced for the first time in March of 2000. The bill

underwent several revisions before its adoption. Most notably, in the original bill, § 27-7-40(a)(iii) & (iv) read as follows:

(iii) The fee interest in real estate held in joint tenancy may not be encumbered **or conveyed** to a third party or parties by a joint tenant acting alone without the joinder of the other joint tenant or tenants in the encumbrance **or conveyance**.

(iv) If all the joint tenants who own real estate held in joint tenancy join in an encumbrance **or deed of conveyance**, the interest in the real estate shall be effectively encumbered **or conveyed** to a third party or parties.⁵

Subsequent revisions, however, resulted in the current language of the statute that removes the language contemplating unilateral conveyances, and those sections now read as follows (with previous language struck):

(iii) The fee interest in real estate held in joint tenancy may not be encumbered ~~for conveyed~~ by a joint tenant acting alone without the joinder of the other joint tenant or tenants in the encumbrance ~~for conveyance~~.

(iv) If all the joint tenants who own real estate held in joint tenancy join in an encumbrance ~~for deed of conveyance~~, the interest in the real estate is effectively encumbered ~~for conveyed~~ to a third party or parties.

The implication of the Legislature removing language that would undeniably prohibit the unilateral severance of a joint tenancy seems to be that it did not intend to proscribe this common law method of severing joint tenancies. Furthermore, it is clear that “encumbrance” and “conveyance” are not synonymous for the purposes of this statute. Given the legislative history and the plain meaning of encumbrance, conveyances are excluded from the definition. According to Black’s Law Dictionary, encumbrance means:

encumbrance n. (16c) A claim or liability that is attached to property or some other right and that may lessen its value, such as a lien or mortgage; any property right that is not an ownership interest. • An encumbrance cannot defeat the transfer of possession, but it remains after the property or right is transferred. — Also spelled incumbrance. — encumber, vb

or:

⁵ S.C. Gen. Assemb. Act No. 398, Section 2. Reg. Sess. 1999-2000 (2000).

Encumbrance' means a right, other than an ownership interest, in real property. The term includes mortgages and other liens on real property.⁶

The intent of S.C. Code § 27-7-40 was to eliminate the need for one or more persons owning a property to convey the property to a strawman to create a joint tenancy with another. As accurately stated by the Court of Appeals “Prior to the enactment of this statute, parties solely in possession of a property had to make an intervening conveyance to a ‘strawman’ to effectively create a joint tenancy between themselves and additional cotenants in the previously owned property. See John V. Orth, *The Perils of Joint Tenancies*, 44 *Real Prop. Tr. & Est. L.J.* 427, 431 (2009). Over the years, states have enacted statutes to allow for the creation of such joint tenancies without the need for an intervening transfer. See e.g., Cal. Civ. Code § 683 (West 2017); Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 38-31-101 (West 2008); 765 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. § 1005/1b (West 2004). We find such was the purpose and intent behind section 27-7-40.” Williams v. Jeffcoat, 434 S.C. 461, 863 S.E.2d 822 (Ct. App. 2021).

Applying the law to the facts of the case at bar results in a tenancy in common with Williams and Jeffcoat each holding a one-half interest in the subject property. The subject property was conveyed from Sandra P. Perkins, who held the property as a joint tenant with rights of survivorship with Bradford Q. Jeffcoat, Jr., to Vanessa Williams on November 16, 2015. This conveyance severed the unity of time requirement with respect to the new tenancy, which in turn severed the joint tenancy with right of survivorship. The Supreme Court in Smith v. Cutler set forth exactly what language to include in the granting clause and habendum clause of a deed to create an indestructible tenancy in common:

“[w]e hold that the use of the phrase “for and during their joint lives and upon the

⁶ Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), encumbrance

death of either of them, then to the survivor of them” indicates an intention of the parties to share a tenancy in common for life, with cross remainders for life, with remainder in fee to the ultimate survivor.” 366 S.C. at 551, 623 S.E.2d at 647.

Had Perkins and Jeffcoat used the language above, then the conveyance by Williams on behalf of Perkins would have failed. This Court should respect that Jeffcoat and Perkins did not include this language in the conveyance of a half interest from Williams to Perkins for consideration. Having opted instead for joint tenancy which could be severed by conveyance, the Court should not upend the rights of Perkins and countless others to convey their interests. Indeed, as addressed by the Court in Smith v. Cutler, 366 S.C. 546, 623 S.E.2d 644 (2005) and following the earlier precedent of Free v. Sandifer, 131 S.C. 232, 126 S.E. 521 (1925) the modern trend is to limit rights of survivorship as they often operate to defeat the owner’s ability to convey the property. A rule that locks owners into ownership with rights of survivorship that cannot be severed should only be followed where the language of the deed reflects this is the clear intent of the parties. It should require more than the simple “rights of survivorship” language found in the present deed.

B. Alabama Law permits a Conservator to Collect, Hold, and Retain property in another state.

The Appellant argues that Alabama Law does not permit a conservator to transfer property to herself without court approval. Ala. Code § 26-2A-152(d)(3) (1975) proscribes the disposal of real property for cash or credit. The Respondent, by contrast, sought to protect a valuable asset of Perkins’ estate by conveying it to herself as fiduciary. As fiduciary, Williams owed a duty to manage the estate of her ward with the skill of a “prudent person dealing with the property of another.” Ala. Code § 26-2A-145 (1975). Considering the wishes of her mother, the fact that her mother had paid valuable consideration for her interest in the subject property, the fact that her mother named her as power of attorney, and the fact that as a conservator, she was required to retain and protect the assets of her mother and/or mother’s estate by law, Williams consulted with

legal counsel in Alabama and South Carolina in order to determine how to sever the joint tenancy. This was not an act of “bad faith” or one of “self-dealing.” It was done in consultation with professionals in both states in a manner that was designed to follow the law of both states.

Without the conveyance, a valuable asset of the estate would have been lost to the survivorship clause in the July 1, 2000 deed in contradiction of Williams duties under Alabama law. Alabama Code § 26-2A-152(c)(1) provides that a conservator may act without court authorization to:

Collect, hold, and retain assets of the estate including land in another state and stocks of private corporations, until determining that disposition of the assets should be made, and the assets may be retained even though they include an asset in which the conservator is personally interested.

Thus, it is appropriate and permissible for a conservator to hold property in her own name in order to determine the final disposition of said property. The statute manifestly provides for conservators to act in the very manner that Williams did in this scenario, just as her ward could have done had she had the mental capacity to do so. It is likewise impossible for this statute to have any meaning with respect to land if it does not allow for conveyances such as this one as it is futile to attempt a transfer of property without a deed.

Furthermore, the allegations that Williams engaged in an act of “granny snatching” Perkins are spurious and insensitive. The very phrase suggests the false notion that Jeffcoat had some legal rights to keep Perkins. Jeffcoat was not Perkins’ spouse, nor did he possess any health care power of attorney, general power of attorney, or any other status which would make him a person from whom Perkins could be “snatched.” On the other hand, Perkins had when competent named her only daughter as her durable springing power of attorney and Health Care Agent for Perkins pursuant to a Health Care Power of Attorney executed on November 19, 2009. (App. pp. 319-326; pp. 327-339). Williams actions were disclosed and were undertaken under the supervision of the

Probate Court of Baldwin County, Alabama. Despite the purported affection Jeffcoat claims was present between him and Perkins, she did not name Jeffcoat as an agent or fiduciary. He had absolutely no rights to act on behalf of Perkins or to be informed of her status or otherwise. And Williams had every legal right to attempt to prevent a valuable asset from being given to Jeffcoat where the terms of the deed reflected an intent to have a severable interest and where Perkins paid valuable consideration for her half interest.

Jeffcoat also takes this opportunity to claim Williams violated her duties as a fiduciary by asserting that she misappropriated funds for her own benefit. He suggests that somehow this is unclean hands that would prevent a partition. However, this ignores the point that Jeffcoat was not and would never be a beneficiary of Perkins money. Jeffcoat has no right or standing to complain about the disposition of Perkins' money. Williams was able to utilize the power of attorney to do her best to care for her mother and to address those things which her mother would have done if she were competent.

III. JEFFCOAT'S ARGUMENTS THAT THERE ARE MULTIPLE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT ARE INCORRECT AND INCONSISTENT WITH THE POSITION TAKEN BY HIM AT THE TRIAL COURT AND WERE NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED.

If Williams had a lawful right to take her mother to Alabama to be cared for pursuant to a Health Care Power of Attorney as well as her status as her daughter, if the laws supports her right to be appointed as Guardian without notice to Jeffcoat, and if Williams had a legal right to sever the joint tenancy with rights of survivorship, then there are no material disputes of fact. There would be no claim of a cloud on title. There would be no meaningful claims of fraud. On the other hand, if the legal question central to this case were decided against Williams, then the conveyance could have been set aside by the lower court and the essential issue of this case would be resolved by that decision. That is how this matter was presented to the Master-in-Equity,

deciding the matter on cross-motions for summary judgment. (App. p. 235, line 21; p. 265, lines 2-5; p. 287, lines 18-19). Unlike the superficial emphasis on counterclaims and affirmative defenses found in his motion for summary judgment, Jeffcoat now argues that the factual allegations advanced on his counterclaims were actually material underpinnings to the alleged unlawful transfer of real property. This is clearly a different position than the one advanced in Jeffcoat's motion for summary judgment, and it is plain that Jeffcoat expected the entire matter of the transfer of real property to be decided as a question of law. (App. pp. 225-236). Further, Jeffcoat made no motion under Rule 59 or any other rule to address what was allegedly not addressed by the Master-in-Equity's order.

As a general rule, the losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments. I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Issues that are overlooked or not decided must be raised pursuant to a timely motion pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Id. ("If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review."). Only issues that are preserved should be considered by the appellate court. Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("If our review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then we should not reach it."); Long v. Dunlap, 87 S.C. 8, 68 S.E. 801 (1910) (The Supreme Court will not consider any point which was not presented and considered below unless it involves jurisdiction of the court.). But, an appellate

court may affirm for any reason appearing in the record. Kreutner v. David, 320 S.C. 293, 465 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1995) (“This Court may affirm, however, for any reason appearing in the record.”).

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